Eastern Illinois University The Keep

Masters Theses

Student Theses & Publications

2014

Assessing Middle School Students' Perceptions of Social Support Provided by Teachers and Other School Professionals

Constantine J. Pappas *Eastern Illinois University* This research is a product of the graduate program in Psychology at Eastern Illinois University. Find out more about the program.

Recommended Citation

Pappas, Constantine J., "Assessing Middle School Students' Perceptions of Social Support Provided by Teachers and Other School Professionals" (2014). *Masters Theses.* 1270. https://thekeep.eiu.edu/theses/1270

This is brought to you for free and open access by the Student Theses & Publications at The Keep. It has been accepted for inclusion in Masters Theses by an authorized administrator of The Keep. For more information, please contact tabruns@eiu.edu.

Assessing Middle School Students' Perceptions of Social Support Provided by Teachers and Other School Professionals

ΒY

Constantine J. Pappas

THESIS

SUBMITTED IN PARTIAL FULFILLMENT OF THE REQUIREMENTS FOR THE DEGREE OF

Specialist in School Psychology

IN THE GRADUATE SCHOOL, EASTERN ILLINOIS UNIVERSITY CHARLESTON, ILLINOIS

<u>2014</u> YEAR

I HEREBY RECOMMEND THIS THESIS BE ACCEPTED AS FULFILLING THIS PART OF THE GRADUATE DEGREE CITED ABOVE

5/27/14 THESIS COMMITTEE CHAIR DATE DEPARTMENT/SCHOOL CHAIR ′DATE OR CHAIR'S DESIGNEE DATÉ THESIS COMMITTEE MEMBER THESIS COMMITTEE MEMBER DATE

ASSESSING MIDDLE SCHOOL STUDENTS PERCEPTIONS OF SOCIAL SUPPORT PROVIDED BY TEACHERS AND OTHER SCHOOL PROFESSIONALS

ΒY

CONSTANTINE PAPPAS

EASTERN ILLINOIS UNIVERSITY

•

Table of Contents

List of Tables5
Acknowledgements
Abstract
Introduction/Literature Review
The Four Pillars of Social Support9
Benefits of Social Support Provided by Teachers11
Negative Effects of Low Teacher Support16
Using the Critical Incident Technique to Study Social Support17
Implications for the CIT in the Schools20
Collecting Critical Incidents
Developing a Coding Manual and Assessing Reliability and Validity22
Limitations to the CIT22
Utilizing the CIT in the Present Study24
Utilizing the CASSS in the Present Study
Method26
Participants
Materials27
Procedure
Coding Manual and Coding Document Creation
Results
Discussion43
Study Limitations, Implications for School Psychologists and Future Research49

References	52
Appendices	60
Appendix A – Principal Contact Letter	60
Appendix B – Letter of Assent (Student Copy)	62
Appendix C – Letter of Consent	63
Appendix D – Email to Parents	64
Appendix E – Social Support Survey	65
Appendix F – Survey for Identifying Information	70
Appendix G – Coding Manual	71
Appendix H – Coding Document	75

List of Tables

Table 1: List of Teacher Behaviors (adapted from Suldo et al. 2009)
Table 2 – Coding Results – Positive Critical Incident Reports
Table 3 – Coding Results – Negative Critical Incident Reports
Table 4 – Cross-tabulation Results – Positive Narrative Reports/Teacher Behaviors37
Table 5 – Cross-tabulation Results – Negative Narrative Reports/Teacher Behaviors37
Table 6: Descriptive Statistics – Child and Adolescent Social Support Survey
Table 7: Descriptive Statistics – Correspondence Between Narrative Reports and CASSS
• Table 7a: Descriptive Statistics Narrative and CASSS (Emotional)
• Table 7b: Descriptive Statistics Narrative and CASSS (Instrumental)40
• Table 7a: Descriptive Statistics Narrative and CASSS (Appraisal)41
• Table 7a: Descriptive Statistics Narrative and CASSS (Informational)42

Acknowledgements

I would like to acknowledge those who made this thesis research project possible. I would first like to thank my family whose constant support and encouragement were greatly appreciated throughout graduate school and this research endeavor. I would also like to thank my thesis chair, Dr. Steven Scher, and committee members, Dr. Assege HaileMariam and Dr. Lyndsay Jenkins for their continuous support and invaluable feedback. Finally, I would like to thank my best friend Alyssa; I truly could not have had the confidence to complete this project without your patience, love and support.

Abstract

Despite the expanding body of research pertaining to social support practices within the educational environment, there remain questions regarding which types of social supports and teacher behaviors students perceive as being most meaningful. This mixed-methods study investigated students' perceptions of social supports as offered by teachers and other school professionals through the use of qualitative narrative reports and quantitative rating scales. Participants included 94 regular and special education middle school students. Results revealed three types of positive social support (Informational Support, Instructional Support and Emotional Support, respectively) and one type of negative social support (Lack of/Negative Emotional Support) that emerged most frequently in student reports. Results also indicated several types of teacher behaviors that most frequently emerged in student reports: Conveys Interest in Student Wellness, Improves Student Mood/Emotion, Causes Negative Student Mood/Emotion, and Interest in Student Progress. Results of ratings scales indicated that Emotional and Informational Support were observed most frequently and viewed as being most important to students. The implications and limitations of the study and direction for future research are discussed.

Assessing Middle School Students Perceptions of

Social Support Provided by Teachers and Other School Professionals

The relationship between students and teachers is critical for social and academic success and this relationship seems to be partially based on social support provided by teachers (e.g., Baker, 1999; Baker, Dilly, Aupperlee, & Patil, 2003; Demaray & Malecki, 2002; Demaray, Malecki, Rueger, Brown, Summers, 2009; Lee, Smith, Perry, Smylle, 1999; Hamre & Pianta, 2005; Suldo & Shaffer, 2008; Suldo, Friedrich, White, Farmer, Minch, & Michalowski, 2009). Social support may present itself in many forms and may be offered and perceived by a variety of individuals such as children and adolescents, parents, teachers/school professionals, peers, acquaintances and the like. However, for the purpose of the present study, social support was viewed through the lens of middle school students, and how those students perceived social support as offered by their teachers and/or other school professionals in the school setting. The purpose of the present study was to identify which types of social support and specific behaviors displayed by teachers and other school professionals were found to provide high and/or low social support to middle school students. In order to assess students' perceptions of teacher and school personnel behaviors, the Critical Incident Technique (CIT; J. C. Flanagan, 1954) (qualitative component) and the Child and Adolescent Social Support Scale (CASSS; Malecki, Demaray, & Elliott, 2000) (quantitative component) were utilized to make up a mixed-methods investigation.

Demaray, Malecki, Davidson, Hodgson, and Rebus (2005) offered the following definition of social support:

An individual's perception that he or she is cared for, esteemed, and valued by people in his or her social network, that enhances personal functioning, assists in coping adequately with stressors, and may buffer him or her from adverse outcomes. (p. 691)

House (1981) suggested that social support presents itself in one of four different categories: emotional (providing trust, empathy, and care), instrumental (providing help to a person in need), informational (providing information to help the person cope), and appraisal (providing evaluative feedback). Although originally structured to study work stress and general health, House's categories of social support have received strong recognition through educational literature and are currently utilized in social support rating scales such as the Child and Adolescent Social Support Scale (CASSS; Malecki et al., 2000).

The Four Pillars of Social Support

When individuals think of being socially supported, they think mainly of emotional support (House, 1981). As such, emotional support subsumes the largest research base pertaining to social support and is typically believed to be the most important form of social support by both experts and laypersons (House, 1981). Specific to education, teachers and school professionals who provide individual empathy, attention, warmth, encouragement, motivation, strong eye contact, and respectful language illustrate several key characteristics of social support on an emotional level (Hamre & Pianta, 2005; House, 1981; Merritt, Wanless, Rimm-Kaufman, Cameron & Peugh, 2012; Pianta, LaParo, & Hamre, 2008; Suldo et al., 2009). Skinner, Zimmer-Gembeck, & Connell (1998) demonstrated that exposing children to positive classroom climates where emotional support is emphasized leads to greater self-regulation among elementary and middle school students. Emotional support from teachers has also been shown to foster motivational and learning related processes important for academic functioning (Hamre & Pianta, 2005).

Additional forms of social support within the education setting are comprised of behaviors including but not limited to teachers helping their students to do their work (instrumental support), providing students with information necessary to help themselves (informational support), and praising signs of improvement and/or mastery that students can then utilize to evaluate themselves (appraisal support) (House, 1981; Hamre & Pianta, 2005; Reeve & Hyungshim, 2006). As with emotional support, these supports have been shown to increase the academic achievement of students' in the school setting (Hamre & Pianta, 2005; Reeve & Hyungshim, 2006). Furthermore, these types of social supports have been shown to assist young students who have limited exposure to preacademic experiences at home, to create more productive classroom environments, and to increase students' willingness to learn and remain motivated (Hamre & Pianta, 2005; Lee et al., 1999).

House (1981) summarized his depiction of social support by suggesting that it is "a flow of emotional concern, instrumental aid, information, and/or appraisal (information relevant to self-evaluation) between people" (pg. 26). Furthermore, House noted that because each type of social support is composed of different antecedents and consequences, they should be investigated both in isolation of one another and as a whole. Suldo et al. (2009) examined social support through a more specific lens by identifying which types of perceived social support enacted by teachers were most strongly associated with middle school students' subjective well being (SWB) using the CASSS (Malecki et al., 2000). Results indicated that emotional and instrumental social support uniquely predicted SWB. A qualitative component of the study used four open ended questions from the CASSS that focused on the four types of social support identified by House (1981). Students were asked to answer each question verbally and a field note taker recorded their responses. Results yielded twenty-two (12 High Support, 10 Low Support) support-related behaviors. Moore (2012) extended these findings by examining the extent to which *teachers* perceptions of socially supportive behaviors coincided with the socially supportive behaviors identified by the students in Suldo et al. (2009). Results revealed high levels of agreement between teachers and students perceptions of socially supportive behaviors.

The present study examined qualitative student reports of perceived support using the Critical Incident Technique (CIT; Flanagan, 1954) and by quantifying the frequency and importance of those types of support using the CASSS (Malecki et al., 2000). Incidents were also analyzed using the specific teacher behavior categories identified by Suldo et al. (2009) and within the four categories of social support suggested by House (1981).

Benefits of Social Support Provided by Teachers

When students are provided social support, be it emotional, instrumental, informational, or appraisal, numerous benefits are experienced. From a broad perspective, Baker et al. (2003) highlighted the notion that healthy school environments are conducive to positive learning experiences. In short, if students consider their school to be a pleasurable environment where they are supported (both emotionally and academically) by their teachers and other school professionals, the multiple hours they spend at school each day will lead to increased satisfaction, engagement, and participation. Huebner and Diener (2008) concur that healthy schools recognize the importance of supportive teacher and peer relationships. In fact, Positive Behavioral Interventions and Supports (PBIS) is implemented in schools to increase positive behavior in the schools in addition to encouraging and strengthening teacher-student and student-student relationships (Huebner & Diener, 2008).

The relationship between students and teachers is paramount for social and academic success. Suldo et al. (2009) investigated which types of teacher support were most strongly associated with adolescents' subjective well-being (SWB). A regression analysis indicated that perceived teacher support accounted for 16% of the variance in students' SWB. Although multiple themes emerged from focus groups, the types of teacher support that were most related to students' life satisfaction were emotional support and instrumental support. These same types of supports were also shown to predict children's academic engagement and reduce negative outcomes such as school failure during adolescence (Hamre & Pianta, 2005).

Recent research has shown the quality of teacher-student interactions to be particularly important to children's social and self-regulatory development. Merritt et al., (2012) explored the relations between emotionally supportive teacher-child interactions and children's social behaviors and self-regulatory skills. Data were gathered regarding each student's adjustment to school after the first three weeks of school, and classroom observations throughout the year. The presence of an emotionally supportive teacher was associated with lower levels of aggressive behaviors, less exclusion from peers, and more pro-social behaviors. High levels of emotional support were found to be equally important for students of high and low levels of sociodemographic risk. These findings provided further support to Wang, Haertel, and Walberg's (1994) finding that social support increased educational resilience in children, which was defined as "the heightened likelihood of success in school despite environmental risks and adversities, brought about by an individual's disposition, conditions, and experiences" (p. 207 as cited in Baker, et al., 2003).

Demaray and Malecki (2003) investigated several sources and types of support, in addition to the frequency and importance of support, as perceived by early adolescents in grades 5 through 8. Students perceived different types of support from different sources and certain categories of supportive behaviors seemed more related to certain outcomes. Emotional and informational support were the most highly reported type of support from parents, informational support was most highly reported from teacher and school sources, and emotional and instrumental support scores were highest from classmates and close friends. Additional findings indicated that students perceived informational support from teachers more than emotional support and valued informational support from teachers more than emotional support (see also Demaray and Malecki, 2002). Based on these findings, Demaray and Malecki (2003) suggested that teachers be aware of the type of support they provide and seek to find a balance between those types of support.

Demaray et al., 2009 examined the relationship between the perceived frequency and perceived importance of social support with youths' self-concept. The authors gathered data using the CASSS and the Student Social Support Scale (SSSS), both of which measure students' perception of social support from teachers, as well as from parents, classmates, and close friends. The participants of the study were children and adolescents' ranging across grades 3-12. Results indicated a significant relationship between the importance that children and adolescents place on socially supportive behaviors from teachers and global self-concept. Further results indicated that youth who perceived higher levels of teacher social support obtained higher self-concept scores in each domain measured by the SSSS (self-image, academic, and social). These results provided further support for previous studies including research by Suldo and Huebner (2006) that found very high life satisfaction and high social support from teachers to be correlated among middle and high school students.

Social support has also been associated with increased levels of academic achievement and engagement (e.g., Baker, 1999; Baker et al., 2003; Demaray & Malecki, 2002; Demaray et al., 2009; Lee et al., 1999; Hamre & Pianta, 2005; Suldo & Shaffer, 2008; Suldo et al., 2009). Lee et al. (1999) found that the relationship between students and teachers specifically contributed to academic success and conformity to specific standards of achievement in school. Hamre and Pianta (2005) further investigated the student-teacher relationship with regard to social support and found that positive relationships increased reading and math skills and decreased risk factors for school failure in adolescents. Similar findings by Close and Solberg (2008) were reported for youth from diverse backgrounds, suggesting that the link between teacher support and student success is generalizable across culture and ethnicity. School-based social support may be especially important for students with increased risk factors (socioeconomic status, premature parenting, youth violence, etc.). Furstenberg and Hughes (1995) argued that young people who face economic and social hardships at home are especially dependent on schools for support and guidance if they cannot find these forms of social support elsewhere in their lives. Social support also provides powerful incentives for at-risk students to attend school even when schoolwork is difficult and expectations are high (Lecompte & Dworkin, 1991).

Given these implications, Croninger and Lee (2001) examined whether access to social support from high school teachers would reduce the likelihood of school dropout for students with multiple risk factors. It was hypothesized that at-risk students have the most to gain from social support from teachers but also the most to lose if they are without it. Among these students were those who had one or more risk factors from both a social-risk category and an academic-risk category. Dropouts were found to characterize their relationships with teachers less positively than graduates, and teachers reported a smaller proportion of dropouts than eventual graduates who received advice outside of class. Other findings indicated that academically at-risk students benefited more from access to social-support than students with no history of difficulty in school. Specific to academically at-risk students, positive relations with teachers reduced the odds of dropping out, as well as the informal interactions with teachers outside of the classroom.

These results provided further support for previous research by DuBois, Felner, Meares, and Krier (1994) which found that support and guidance received from teachers and other school professionals is particularly beneficial for youths who are exposed to noteworthy levels of disadvantage and stressful circumstances in their lives outside of school (i.e. social-risk).

Negative Effects of Low Teacher Support

There are many negative implications for students' receiving low social support from their teachers and/or other school professionals. Baker (1999) emphasized the importance of the teacher-student relationship and found that children at risk for school failure often do not make meaningful connections to the school culture without the personal and academic support of teachers. In addition, students who receive low support from teachers and other school professionals have been linked with school failure and dropout (Baker, 1999), increased levels of externalizing and/or internalizing behavior problems (Huebner & Diener, 2008), lower levels of self-worth (Malecki & Elliott, 1999), self-control (Merritt et al., 2012), and school engagement and academic success (e.g., Lee et al., 1999; Hamre & Pianta, 2005) in comparison to their more socially supported peers.

Demaray and Malecki (2002) examined the relationship between adolescents' perceived social support and self-reported maladjustment indicators in a sample of 125 middle school students in grades 6-8. The CASSS (Malecki et al. 2000) and the Behavior Assessment System for Children, Self Report of Personality (BASC SRP; Reynolds & Kamphaus, 1998) were used to collect data regarding perceived social support and selfreported maladjustment, respectively. Correlational analyses were conducted to investigate the relationship between students' perceptions of social support from a variety of sources (parents, teachers, classmates, close friends, and school) and the students' perceptions of maladjustment. Results indicated moderately significant relationships between overall social support and maladjustment indicators including school maladjustment, personal maladjustment, and emotional symptoms. Specifically, low teacher support was found to be a significant predictor of school maladjustment on the BASC-SRP. These findings help to illustrate how low teacher support significantly predicts students' inability to adequately adjust in the school environment. In addition, school maladjustment can result in relatively poor academic performance within the classroom, lower standardized test scores, and less participation in extracurricular activities compared to more socially supported peers (Demaray & Malecki, 2002).

Demaray et al., (2005) found that support from people in the students' school was a significant predictor of attitude towards the school and attitudes toward teachers, two components that can have profound effects on overall education.

Using the Critical Incident Technique to Study Social Support

The previous research pertaining to social support within the educational setting has clearly illustrated its positive implications for emotional and academic benefits in children and adolescents. To help identify the behaviors associated with social support in the educational setting, Suldo et al. (2009) examined students' perceptions of teacher behaviors that provide social support. Results indicated that students identified similar socially supportive behaviors provided by teachers that previous research (Demaray et al., 2005) has displayed as providing high or low levels of social support (see Table 1 below). Extending from these findings using the same categories of teaching behaviors identified in Suldo et al. (2009), Moore (2012) investigated which socially supportive behaviors identified by the students in Suldo et al. (2009) coincided with teachers' perceptions of socially supportive behaviors. Teachers and students agreed that ten categories provided high social support (Behaviors: 1, 3, 6, 7, 9, 11, 12, 14, 16, 20) and

four categories provided low social support (Behaviors: 2, 4, 8, 22). Teachers and

students disagreed on three categories (Behaviors: 2, 4, and 20).

Table 1: List of Teacher Behaviors (adapted from Suldo et al. 2009)

Tuble 1. List of Teacher Denariors (anaplea from Sundo et al. 2007)
Positive Support Behaviors
1. Conveys Interest in Student Wellness
2. Coveys Disinterest in Student Wellness
3. Improves Student Mood/Emotion
4. Causes Negative Student Mood/Emotion
5. Gives Students What They Want
6. Responsive to Whole Class Understanding of Material
7. Interest in Student Progress
8. Insufficient Interest in Student Progress
9. Uses Diverse Teaching Strategies
10. Reliance on Single Mode of Instruction
11. Gives Evaluative Feedback
12. Helps Improve Student Grades
Negative Support Behaviors
13. Not Helping Students Improve Grades
14. Manageable Workload
15. Overwhelming Workload
16. Treats Students Similarly
17. Punishment in Fair Manner
18. Treats Students in Biased Manner
19. Punishment in Incorrect Manner
20. Welcomes Questions
21. Discourages Questions
22. Sets Firm Rules/Discipline Practices
Although these findings have supplemented the literature of social support within
the educational setting, further research is needed to provide more detailed descriptions
of the identified socially supportive behaviors from the students' perspective.
Specifically, gathering factual narrative reports provided by students regarding their

perceptions of positive and negative social supports as provided by their teachers and

other school professionals would provide qualitatively rich information regarding

students' personal experiences at school and implications for best practice in the field of

social support within the school environment. The current study will use the Critical Incident Technique (CIT; Flanagan, 1954) and the CASSS (2000) to gather these reports.

The Critical Incident Technique (CIT) has been defined as an effective exploratory and investigative tool by a number a diverse disciplines including: education and teaching (e.g., Barnes, 1960; Corbally, 1956; Kain, 2004; Oaklief, 1976; O'Brien, Mills, Fraser, & Andersson, 2011; Radford, 2006), counseling (e.g., Woolsey, 1986), communications (e.g., Stano, 1983), and job analysis (e.g., Anderson & Wilson, 1997). The CIT allows for researchers to gather narrative reports from respondents that describe, in great detail, positive and negative real life experiences that are, in some way, "critical" and associated with a particular event or scenario (e.g., a time when a teacher provided positive or negative social support to a student).

The technique was initially developed for John C. Flanagan's examination of the effective and ineffective characteristics associated with airplane pilots during World War II. Flanagan's 1954 depiction of the technique discussed its application in developing ethical standards for psychologists, measuring task proficiency, selecting and classifying personnel, designing job procedures and equipment, identifying motivation and leadership attitudes, and identifying factors in effective counseling.

Flanagan (1954) defined the CIT as "a set of procedures for collecting direct observations of human behavior" (p. 327). He also emphasized the notion that the technique should be viewed as a flexible set of principles, which must be modified and adapted to meet the criteria of specific research. Chell (1998) further defined the objective of the technique as gaining an understanding of an incident from the perspective of an individual while taking into account cognitive, affective and behavioral elements.

Implications for the CIT in the Schools

Since Flanagan's (1954) article on the CIT, others have described benefits associated with the technique within education and teaching (Barnes, 1960; Corbally, 1956; Kain, 1997, 2004; Oaklief, 1976; O'Brien, Mills, Fraser, & Andersson, 2011; Radford, 2006). For example, Kain (1997) utilized the CIT to examine the collaborative planning that teachers engaged in while creating interdisciplinary experiences for their students. Specific questions were asked to individual teachers such as, "Think of a time when you and your team members were especially effective (and in a later question, ineffective) in working together to create an integrated or interdisciplinary unit or activity for your students." Using a systematic approach to code and classify the data into categories, Kain (1997) identified multiple "tentative principles" to be utilized by teachers as a framework of effective and ineffective collaborative strategies for structuring interdisciplinary experiences for students.

The CIT has also been used in numerous studies as a means for teachers and school professionals to come to a better understanding of their own practices and beliefs, reflecting on critical incidents that occurred while they were teaching or working, and to increase the capacity of preservice teachers to develop reflective and critical thinking skills (Tripp, 1993; Farrell, 2008; Griffin, 2003). Additional educational studies utilizing the CIT have identified administrative behaviors that might lead to greater accomplishment of the adult-continuing education and community service function (Oaklief, 1976). Oaklief (1976) reported findings that represented general and specific

domains including: administrative task characteristics, administrative practice, and program planning and development over both implementation and importance scales.

Collecting Critical Incidents

Although Flanagan (1954) suggested that the CIT be guided by a flexible set of principles in research, it is pivotal that the researcher be adequately prepared and organized for conducting research with the CIT. The most meaningful aspect of the CIT is its ability to gather large sums of data from an individual, regarding a single incident. As Corbally (1956) explained in his utilization of the critical incident technique in education, while a crisis may be identified in a school, the numerous conditions and triggers associated with that crisis often remain unclear and often unstated. This illustrates a strength and key feature of the CIT, in that, the researcher must select specific questions (in addition to gathering a description of the incident) to tap into the respondents' recollection of the antecedents of the incident (what led up to the incident), the behavior during the incident (what actually happened, and what it looked like), and the consequences of the incident and how it directly affected the respondent (how did you feel after the incident). The researcher's objective is to construct the questions for the interview in positive and negative phrasing so to collect a positive and negative incident report from each respondent. Sub-questions are created to extract further information on the antecedents and consequences of each positive and negative incident. Bitner, Booms, and Tetreault (1990) suggested that each critical incident (1) include a direct contact between the respondent and the individual/s depicted in the incident, (2) be very satisfying or dissatisfying from the respondent's point of view, (3) be a discrete episode, and (4) have sufficient detail to be fully understood by the interviewer.

21

Developing a Coding Manual and Assessing Reliability and Validity

Using the four types of social support identified by House (1981; emotional, instructional, informational, appraisal) and the 22 categories of high and low socially supportive teaching behaviors identified by Suldo et al. (2009), a coding manual was developed and used to categorize data from the current study. After developing the coding manual, a series of reliability and validity tests were used as suggested by previous research in order to strengthen category utility (Andersson and Nilsson, 1964; Bitner et al., 1990; Corbally, 1956; Gremler, 2004; Stano, 1983; Stauss, 1993; Woolsey, 1986). Corbally (1956) first emphasized the importance of the team approach in the CIT, and how that approach increases reliability and validity. In utilizing a team approach, Stauss (1993; see also Stano, 1983) suggested conducting the categorization process several times by employing different coders and examining the intercoder reliability (i.e., the extent to which coders agree that critical incidents correspond to types of social support and types of teacher behaviors).

Cohen's (1960) kappa statistic is commonly used to assess interrater reliability in categorical rating tasks. Viera and Garrett (2005) encouraged researchers to utilize the following interpretation table: kappa < 0 = less than chance agreement, kappa 0.01-0.20 = slight agreement, kappa 0.21 - 0.40 = fair agreement, kappa 0.41 - 0.60 = moderate agreement, kappa 0.61 - 0.80 = substantial agreement, kappa 0.81 - 0.99 = almost perfect agreement.

Limitations to the CIT

Similar to other self-report assessments, the CIT has several limitations. One issue is that the critical incidents reported by the respondents can be misinterpreted or

misunderstood by researchers (Gremler 2004). Furthermore, researchers may interpret an incident as critical when, in fact, it is not. However, in previous research, Flanagan, Gosnell, and Fivars (1963) suggested when the purpose or intent of the incident is clear to the researcher and there is little doubt as to the effectiveness or the ineffectiveness of the behavior in accomplishing the task at hand, the researcher can deem the incident as "critical". In addition, Corbally (1956) stressed to researchers using the CIT that the technique was not designed to discriminate the severity of criticalness. Rather, it was designed to highlight how individuals perceive different scenarios.

Other criticisms of the CIT focus on the ambiguity associated with the category labels and coding schemes. Although researchers strive to place incidents into categories that purport to be related to those incidents, there is a good deal of subjectivity involved in the coding and classification process. It is for this reason that researchers are encouraged to utilize interrater reliability when coding and classifying the data (Andersson & Nilsson, 1964). Flawed recall bias by the respondent, and memory lapses illustrate other limitations to the CIT (Gremler, 2004). Researchers should also understand that the responses described by participants might include false or distorted information.

Due to the qualitative nature of the CIT, the reliability and validity of the implications derived from it have been questioned (Gremler, 2004; Corbally, 1956; Chell, 1998). Chell (1998) explained that research not based on quantitative samples might be viewed as insufficiently generalizable. However, providing evidence of strong interrater agreement based on the judgment of competent reviewers educated on the CIT helps to increase the reliability and validity of such studies. Furthermore, the CIT was created not to provide quantitative solutions to problems, but to offer researchers valuable insight to help explain a phenomenon. It is also for this reason that the current study included the use of the CASSS (Malecki et al., 2000). This way, the correspondence between the results of the CASSS and the narrative reports provided by students could be quantified.

Utilizing the CIT in the Present Study

Pedagogical practices can and should always be strengthened and refined. Providing teachers and school professionals with data driven principles can increase their knowledge about effective strategies for providing social support to their students. In order to do so, critical incidents were collected from middle school students regarding their personal experiences receiving effective and/or ineffective forms of social support from their teachers or other school professionals. By analyzing the extent to which student reports of socially supportive teacher behaviors correspond to the socially supportive behaviors identified in previous research (Suldo et al. 2009, Moore, 2012), specific behaviors that should be encouraged or discouraged will be identified and could potentially serve as a framework for teachers and school professionals to better understand what behaviors are viewed by students as effective and ineffective. Utilizing a scale to quantify social support types (i.e., CASSS) will also help to establish such a framework.

Through narrative report analysis, the following questions and predictions based on previous research and literature were addressed:

• Question 1: When asked to describe times when they received high/low levels of social support at school, what types of social support (i.e., House, 1981's categories) emerged most frequently in student narrative reports? And, did the

most frequent forms of social support correspond with previous findings (i.e., Suldo et al., 2009)?

- Prediction: Based on previous research and literature, it was predicted that Emotional and Instrumental support would emerge most frequently. Similarly, when asked to describe times with low levels of support, Lack of/Negative Emotional Support and Lack of/Negative Instrumental Support would emerge most frequently.
- Question 2: When asked to describe times when they received high/low levels of social support at school, what types of teacher behaviors (i.e., Suldo et al., 2009's categories) emerged most frequently in student narrative reports?
 - Prediction: The most frequent teacher behaviors would be those associated with Emotional and/or Instrumental support (e.g., conveys interest in student wellness, improves student mood/emotion, interest in student progress, welcomes questions). Similarly, the most frequent unsupportive teacher behaviors would be those associated with Lack of/Negative Emotional and/or Lack of/Negative Instructional support (e.g., conveys disinterest in student wellness, causes negative student mood/emotion, insufficient interest in student progress, discourages questions).
- Question 3: What types of social support and teacher behaviors corresponded most frequently, and what did those interactions reveal?

 Prediction: Types of social support and teacher behaviors that correspond will be similar in nature (i.e., Emotional Support X Improves Student Mood/Emotion).

Utilizing the CASSS in the Present Study

The CASSS (Malecki et al., 2000) is a 60-item self-report scale that measures child and adolescent perceptions of social support received from five major sources (parents, teachers, classmates, close friends, and school personnel). Each source subscale measures the four types of social support proposed by House (1981; emotional, instrumental, appraisal, and informational).

For the purpose of the current study, the *Teacher* and the *School Support* were the only subscales administered. As such, individual students' *Frequency* scores could range from 3 to 18 for each type of social support within each subscale. Likewise, students' *Importance* scores could range from 3 to 9 for each type of social support within subscale. It was hypothesized that the positive social support experiences narrated by students would also be identified as the most frequently observed and most important forms of social support illustrated within the results of the CASSS. It was predicted that, as addressed in *Question 1a*, Emotional and Instrumental support would also emerge as most frequent and important on the CASSS.

Method

Participants

Participants consisted of 94 regular and special education students from grades 6-8 recruited from two middle schools in Orland Park, Illinois (Century Junior High School, Orland Junior High School). All students voluntarily participated in the study. The 94 participants consisted of 35 males (37%) and 59 females (63%). Of these participants there were 52 6th graders (55%), 23 7th graders (24%) and 19 8th graders (20%). When asked to estimate their current grade point average (GPA), 34 participants reported a GPA of 4.0 or higher (36%), 53 students reported a GPA between 3.0 - 4.0 (56%), 6 students reported a GPA between 2.0 - 3.0 (6%), and 1 student reported a GPA between 1.0 – 2.0. Of the 94 participants, a total of 81 (86%) reported being involved in some type of extracurricular activities.

Of the 94 student participants, 66 students completed the survey in its entirety (one positive critical incident, one negative critical incident and completion of the CASSS). An additional 28 participants completed the survey in some capacity by reporting at least one critical incident without completing the CASSS; those reports were included in the study. One hundred and six useable critical incidents (66 positive reports, 30 negative reports, 10 other/uncodable reports) were reported. Sixty-six completed CASSS surveys were available for analysis.

Materials

Students were asked to report a positive critical incident and a negative critical incident. They then completed the CASSS. All materials were presented online. *Critical Incident Technique*

The positive incident asked the participant to "Think about a time when one of your teacher s or another person who works at your school provided you with social support. Specifically, think about a time when someone did something that you found to be helpful in some way." Subsequent questions were then presented to the student in order to facilitate more elaborative responses: how long ago did the experience occur, where did the experience take place, who made the participant feel that way (teacher, classroom helper, principal/assistant principal, or someone else), what lead up to the experience (describe the situation you were in), what actually happened and how the did the school employee act (what they did), how did the experience affect the participant, and how the participant felt after the experience and whether the experience had additional effects on the participant or other students. Finally, participants were asked to report how truthful they were in their reports (1 = very truthful, 2 = somewhat truthful, 3 = untruthful).

The negative incident asked the participant to "Think about a time when one of your teachers or another person working in your school provided negative social support. Specifically, think about a time when someone did something that you found to be not helpful in some way." The same follow-up questions were presented following this item to assist in report elaboration.

Child and Adolescent Social Support Scale

In addition to the positive and negative critical incident questions, the *Teacher* and the *School Support* subscales of the Child and Adolescent Social Support Scale (CASSS, 2000) were also included on the Qualtrics survey. Each subscale contained three items related to each type of social support (12 total items) and required students to make responses based on a 6-point Likert scale (Frequency of social support) and a 3-point Likert scale (Importance of social support). Students are asked to read each statement and rate (1) how often they perceive that support (frequency) and (2) how important it is to them that they perceive that support (importance). The frequency ratings are on a 6-point scale ranging from 1-never to 6-always. The importance ratings are on a

3-point scale from 1-not important to 3-very important. In order to score the CASSS, the frequency ratings for each subscale are added to create a frequency total. Similarly, the importance ratings for each subscale are added to create an importance total score.

Procedure

Following methodology review and approval by the Eastern Illinois University Institutional Review Board (IRB), contact letters were sent to prospective participating schools asking principals to allow research to be conducted with their students (see Appendix A). Of the four schools contacted, two schools agreed to allow their students to participate in the study. Principals who accepted and returned contact letters were recontacted to schedule a date for the researcher to come into the school to explain the study, describe the potential incentives associated with participation (four \$25 gift cards), and allow the students to ask questions concerning the study.

Students who wished to participate in the study were asked to sign and return assent forms (see Appendix B) with a home phone number and parent/guardian email (if applicable) that day. Assenting students were also given consent forms (see Appendix C) for their parents/guardians to sign and return to the researcher. After collecting signed consent, the primary researcher contacted the parents/guardians of the students by e-mail in order to describe the study and provide the login information to the survey website (see Appendix D). All informed consent/assent documents were collected by the primary researcher prior to data collection and were stored in a locked filing cabinet.

Once logged into the survey website, participants were automatically directed to the online survey (see Appendix E) and provided responses to questions about their gender, grade level, grade point average, involvement in extracurricular activities, and the school in which they attended. After reporting an experience for each critical incident (i.e., positive social support, negative social support), participants were asked if they wished to describe additional experiences. Those who wished to submit additional reports were asked which type of incident they wished to identify (positive social support and/or negative social support) and were redirected to the appropriate start point and were able to report as many experiences as they wished for each type of social support. Only three participants chose to identify more than one incident for a negative or positive incident. Participants who wished to move on to the next portion of the survey were redirected to the appropriate start point for the CASSS subscales.

To ensure confidentiality, participant's names were not recorded in association with their responses. Rather, after completing the survey, participants were redirected to an additional survey (see Appendix F) where they were asked to provide identifying information (name, school, contact information), were able to enter a drawing for one of the four available incentives, and were thanked for their participation. In order to ensure teacher/school personnel confidentiality, participants were asked to conceal the name, sex, and specific subject matter associated with the teacher or school professional described in their reports (i.e., math teacher). However, prior to each critical incident report, students were asked to identify the title of the school professional they described from a list of personnel (principal, assistant principal, teacher, substitute teacher, classroom helper, someone else).

The duration of participation varied based on the how long it took each participant to report their experiences, how elaborately they described their experiences, how many experiences they reported, and how quickly they read and responded to the questions on the CASSS items. The average duration of survey completion across participants was 22minutes.

Coding Manual and Coding Document Creation

In order to facilitate the sorting process of critical incidents reported by participants, a coding manual was developed (see Appendix G). The manual was created based on the online survey administered to participants and corresponded with a coding document that was created for coders to log their codes (see Appendix H). The manual included three lists/categories. Although the students were asked to list incidents only carried out by teachers or school employees, a number of students instead provided incidents carried out by others. Therefore, the first list/category in the coding sheet was used to identify the actor illustrated in the critical incident (i.e., Teacher/School Employee, Peer, Family Member, Other, Not Specified). The second list/category was used to identify the type of social support as defined by House (1981: emotional, instrumental, informational, appraisal) in addition to the negative counterpart of each type of social support (e.g., Lack/Negative Use of Emotional Support). Categories of "Other" and "Uncodable" were also included if the incident did not fit into a specific category or if the incident was lacking at least minimal information. Each type of social support was defined using the definitions developed by House (1981). The definitions for the negative counterparts of each type of social support were defined reflecting the opposite of each type of social support defined by House (1981). The third list/category was used to identify the 22 teacher behaviors illustrated by Suldo et al. (2009). Definitions for each teacher behavior were adopted from the definitions from Suldo et al., (2009).

The coding manual also included specific directions for coders to follow that corresponded to the coding document. Specifically, coders were instructed to place one code for each list/category (i.e., Actor, Type of Social Support Identified by House [1981], Behaviors Identified by Suldo et al. [2009]). When applicable, coders were also instructed to include secondary codes in the notes section of each list/category. Finally, coders were instructed to utilize codes of "Other" if an incident/s did not fit any of the given categories within each list/category, or "Uncodable" if insufficient information was provided. Using the coding document, coders were required to identify the incident number, coder initials, actor type, social support type (House, 1981), and teacher behavior type (Suldo et al., 2009).

Results

The data from the present study were analyzed using several methods. First, all 106 critical incidents were individually coded by the primary investigator and a graduate student enrolled in the School Psychology Program at Eastern Illinois University. The purpose of this categorization scheme was to assign codes within each category identified in the coding manual (i.e., Actor Type, House Social Support, Suldo Teacher Behavior). Interrater reliability procedures were first conducted using the primary codes, then the secondary codes. Following the assessment of interrater reliability, the categories displaying no agreement between raters were re-coded by a third coder with experience in the middle school educational setting. After coding, each critical incident had one code for each category. Next, researchers were able to identify the percentage of positive and negative student reports that corresponded to the types of social support identified by House (1981) and the types of teacher behaviors identified by Suldo et al. (2009). Finally,

the correspondence between House (1981) social supports and Suldo et al. (2009) teacher behaviors was interpreted for positive and negative narrative reports.

The results of the CASSS were examined to see whether the levels of support indicated corresponded to the type of incidents reported in the critical incident task.

Interrater Reliability

Cohen's kappa statistic was computed using two methods to determine interrater reliability between raters. First, interrater reliability was computed using the primary codes assigned by raters for each category illustrated in the coding manual (i.e., Actor type, House social support, Suldo teacher behavior). For actor type, inter-rater coding procedures resulted in a 92% agreement between the two coders. The obtained Cohen's kappa value was .80 indicating substantial inter-rater agreement, p < .001. For House (1981) social support type, inter-rater coding procedures resulted in a 53% agreement between the two coders. The obtained moderate inter-rater agreement, p < .001. For Suldo et al. (2009) teacher behaviors, inter-rater coding procedures resulted in a 53% agreement between the two coders. The obtained Cohen's kappa value was .45 indicating moderate inter-rater agreement, p < .001. For Suldo et al. (2009) teacher behaviors, inter-rater coding procedures resulted in a 53% agreement between the two coders. The obtained Cohen's kappa value was .45 indicating moderate inter-rater agreement, p < .001.

Next, interrater reliability was computed using the secondary codes assigned by raters for each category illustrated in the coding manual (i.e., Actor type, House social support, Suldo teacher behavior). Specifically, when the two raters disagreed, secondary codes were examined. Where one rater's secondary code agreed with the other rater's primary code, this code was applied to the incident.

Using these recoded ratings, the inter-rater reliability obviously increased. For actor type, inter-rater coding procedures resulted in a 92% agreement between the two

coders. The obtained Cohen's kappa value was .80 indicating substantial inter-rater agreement, p < .001. For House (1981) social support type, inter-rater coding procedures resulted in a 72% agreement between the two coders. The obtained Cohen's kappa value was .66 indicating substantial inter-rater agreement, p < .001. For Suldo et al. (2009) teacher behaviors, inter-rater coding procedures resulted in a 78% agreement between the two coders. The obtained Cohen's kappa value agreement, p < .001.

Percentage of Social Support and Teacher Behavior Categories

Following inter-rater reliability testing, descriptive analyses were conducted to determine the frequency of Actor Type, Social Support (House, 1981), and Teacher Behaviors (Suldo et al., 2009) based on the 63 positive narrative reports and 43 negative narrative reports submitted by participants. Results are reported in Tables 2 and 3.

Correspondence Between Social Support and Teacher Behaviors

Tables 4 and 5 show the cross-tabulation between coding of the Social Support types and the Teacher Behaviors. As expected, certain behaviors from Suldo et al.'s (2009) teacher behaviors are represented in each of the four House (1981) categories.

CASSS Social Support Types

Using the *Teacher* and *School Personnel* subscales of the CASSS, totals were computed for the *Frequency* of types of social support and the *Importance* of that social support for each participant. For each type of social support, individual students could have scored as high as 18 (all 6-point ratings) and as low as 3 (all 1-point ratings) in the *Frequency* domain, and as high as 9 (all 3-point ratings) and as low as 3 (all 1-point ratings) in the Importance domain. Results, including reliability estimates, are included

in Table 6.

Table 2:	Coding	Results -	– Positive	Critical	Incident	Reports

Actor Type	Total Codes (63 Reports)	%
1 Tassher/Ochool England	47	75%
1. Teacher/School Employee 2. Peer	12	19%
		3%
3. Family Member	2 2	3%
4. Not Specified	2	570
Social Support (House, 1981)	Total Codes (63 Reports)	0/0
1. Informational Support	25	40%
2. Instrumental Support	18	29%
3. Emotional Support	12	19%
4. Lack of/Negative Emotional Support	t 4	6%
5. Uncodable	3	4%
6. Appraisal Support	1	2%
Teacher Behaviors (Suldo, 2009)	Total Codes (63 Reports)	%
1. Interest in Student Progress	25	40%
2. Improves Student Mood/Emotion	15	21%
3. Conveys Interest in Student Wellnes		16%
4. Uncodable	4	6%
5. Causes Negative Student Mood/Emo		5%
	511011 5	· · · •
0	1	2%
6. Treats Students in Biased Manner	1	2% 2%
6. Treats Students in Biased Manner7. Gives Students What They Want	1 1 anding 1	2%
6. Treats Students in Biased Manner7. Gives Students What They Want8. Responsive to Whole Class Understand	anding 1	2% 2%
6. Treats Students in Biased Manner7. Gives Students What They Want		2%

Actor Type	Total Codes (43 Reports)	%
	20	700/
1. Teacher/School Employee	30	70%
2. Peer 2. Formily Monshor	9	21%
3. Family Member	2	5%
4. Other	1	2%
4. Not Specified	1	2%
Social Support Reports (House, 1981) Total Codes (43 Reports)	⁰ /0
1. Lack of/Negative Emotional Support	t 13	30%
2. Lack of/Negative Informational Support		16%
3. Lack of/Negative Informational Supp		12%
4. Emotional Support	4	9%
5. Informational Support	4	9%
6. Other	4	9%
7. Uncodable	3	7%
8. Instrumental Support	2	6%
9. Lack of/Negative Appraisal Support		2%
Teacher Behaviors (Suldo, 2009)	Total Codes (43 Reports)	%
1. Causes Negative Student Mood/Emo	otion 17	40%
2. Punishment in Incorrect Manner	6	14%
3. Conveys Interest in Student Wellnes	ss 4	8%
4. Interest in Student Progress	3	7%
5. Other	3	7%
6. Insufficient Interest in Student Progr	ress 2	5%
7. Conveys Disinterest in Student Well	lness 2	5%
8. Uncodable	2	5%
9. Welcomes Questions	2	5%
10. Treats Students in Biased Manner	1	2%
11. Improves Student Moods/Emotion	1	2%

Table 3: Coding Results – Negative Critical Incident Reports

Suldo et al. (2009) Teacher Behaviors												
	1	3	4	5	6	7	11	14	18	23	24	Total
House (1981)												
Social Support	~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~	~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~	0	0	0	- biological and an angeneration						1.0
Emotional	7	3	0	0	0	1	0	1	0	0	0	12
Lack/Emotional	0	0	3	0	0	0	0	0	1	0	0	4
Instrumental	3	7	0	1	0	5	0	0	0	1	1	18
Informational	0	5	0	0	1	19	0	0	0	0	0	25
Appraisal	0	0	0	0	0	0	1	0	0	0	0	1
Uncodable	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	3	3
Total	10	15	3	1	1	25	1	1	1	1	4	63

Table 4: Cross-tabulation Results – Positive Narrative Reports by Teacher Behaviors

Note: See Table 1 for Suldo et al. (2009) teacher behaviors on page 18

Table 5: Cross-tabulation Results – Negative Narrative Reports by Teacher Behaviors

Suldo et al. (2009) Teacher Behaviors												
	1	2	3	4	7	8	18	19	20	23	24	Total
House (1981)												
Social Support												
Emotional	4	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	4
Lack/Emotional	0	1	0	8	0	0	1	3	0	0	0	13
Instrumental	0	0	1	0	1	0	0	0	0	0	0	2
Lack/Instrumental	0	1	0	3	0	1	0	0	0	0	0	5
Informational	0	0	0	2	2	0	0	0	0	0	0	4
Lack/Informational	0	0	0	4	0	1	0	0	2	0	0	7
Other	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	2	0	1	1	4
Uncodable	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	2	1	3
Total	4	2	1	17	3	2	1	6	2	3	2	43

Note: See Table 1 for Suldo et al. (2009) teacher behaviors on page 18

Teacher (Frequency)	a	Mean	Std. Deviation
1. Emotional Support	.70	15.33	2.30
2. Informational Support	.80	15.24	2.77
3. Appraisal Support	.77	13.73	3.44
4. Instrumental Support	.73	13.91	3.03
Teacher (Importance)			
1. Emotional Support	.69	7.73	1.17
2. Informational Support	.56	8.03	1.15
3. Appraisal Support	.51	7.41	1.34
4. Instrumental Support	.63	7.20	1.28
School Personnel (Frequency)			
1. Emotional Support	.88	13.82	3.24
2. Informational Support	.91	13.32	3.81
3. Appraisal Support	.87	12.74	4.31
4. Instrumental Support	.86	12.59	3.88
School Personnel (Importance)			
1. Emotional Support	.74	7.67	1.32
2. Informational Support	.79	7.50	1.45
3. Appraisal Support	.72	7.20	1.42
4. Instrumental Support	.73	6.92	1.42

Table 6: Descriptive Statistics – Child and Adolescent Social Support Scale

NOTE: Frequency Scales Range from 3 to 18; Importance Scales Range from 3 to 9

Correspondence Between Narrative Social Support Types and CASSS

The CASSS measures social support in each of the four categories suggested by House (1981). We explored whether participant's scores on the CASSS would correspond in some way with which type of support they chose to write about in their critical incidents. Tables 7a-7d present the results. Although the sample sizes were too small and unbalanced to perform ANOVAs on these data, no patterns were apparent.

House (1981) Category	Ν	Teacher Frequency Mean (sd.)	Teacher Importance Mean (sd.)	School Pers. Frequency Mean (sd.)	School Pers. Importance Mean (sd.)
Emotional	7	14.43 (2.15)	7.43 (1.13)	14.29 (3.86)	7.43 (1.13)
(Positive Reports) Emotional (Negative Reports)	4	16.75 (1.26)	8.25 (.50)	14.25 (3.77)	8.25 (.50)
Lack/Emotional (Positive Reports)	4	14.50 (1.29)	7.00 (1.15)	11.50 (2.89)	7.25 (1.50)
(Negative Reports)	10	13.20 (2.35)	6.90 (.88)	13.10 (2.85)	7.00 (1.15)
Instrumental (Positive Reports)	17	14.88 (2.71)	7.47 (1.12)	12.94 (2.46)	7.29 (1.36)
(Negative Reports)	2	12.50 (2.12)	8.50 (.71)	12.00 (1.41)	8.50 (.71)
Lack/Instrumental (Positive Reports)	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A
(I osnive Reports) Lack/Instrumental (Negative Reports)	5	13.60 (2.30)	7.40 (1.52)	12.20 (3.56)	6.60 (1.52)
Informational (Positive Reports)	20	16.65 (1.42)	8.20 (1.05)	15.30 (3.49)	8.25 (1.16)
(Negative Reports)	4	16.25 (1.50)	7.50 (1.29)	16.50 (1.29)	7.00 (1.83)
Lack/Informational (Positive Reports)	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A
Lack/Informational (Negative Reports)	7	17.14 (1.21)	7.28 (1.11)	15.86 (2.79)	8.00 (1.00)
Appraisal (Positive Reports)	1	18.00 (N/A)	9.00 (N/A)	14.00 (N/A)	8.00 (N/A)
Appraisal (Negative Reports)	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A
Lack/Appraisal (Positive Reports)	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A
Lack/Appraisal (Negative Reports)	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A
Other (Positive Reports)	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A
Other (Negative Reports)	4	16.00 (2.45)	8.50 (1.00)	14.50 (2.45)	8.50 (1.00)
Uncodable (Positive Reports)	3	11.66 (1.53)	7.33 (1.53)	12.67 (3.21)	8.33 (1.15)
Uncodable (Negative Reports)	2	16.50 (2.12)	8.50 (1.00)	12.50 (2.12)	8.50 (1.00)

 Table 7a: Descriptive Statistics – Correspondence Between Narrative Reports and

 CASSS (Emotional Sub-items)

House (1981) Category	Ν	Teacher Frequency Mean (sd.)	Teacher Importance Mean (sd.)	School Pers. Frequency Mean (sd.)	School Pers. Importance Mean (sd.)
Emotional (Positive Reports)	7	12.71 (4.15)	6.86 (1.86)	12.71 (4.68)	6.86 (1.77)
Emotional (Negative Reports)	4	16.00 (2.16)	6.75 (2.22)	14.75 (5.85)	6.75 (2.06)
Lack/Emotional (Positive Reports)	4	11.25 (3.86)	5.50 (.58)	13.00 (2.45)	6.25 (.50)
(Tositive Reports) Lack/Emotional (Negative Reports)	10	12.00 (3.46)	6.50 (1.27)	11.10 (3.63)	6.80 (1.03)
Instrumental (Positive Reports)	17	13.53 (3.39)	7.35 (1.32)	11.06 (4.04)	6.82 (1.67)
(Negative Reports)	2	10.50 (2.12)	8.00 (1.41)	13.50 (4.94)	7.00 (1.41)
Lack/Instrumental (Positive Reports)	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A
(Positive Reports) Lack/Instrumental (Negative Reports)	5	10.60 (3.21)	7.20 (1.30)	10.40 (4.82)	7.80 (1.64)
Informational (Positive Reports)	20	14.75 (3.14)	7.85 (1.04)	14.05 (4.21)	7.50 (1.14)
(Tostrive Reports) Informational (Negative Reports)	4	14.75 (1.89)	6.75 (1.71)	13.75 (3.95)	5.75 (.50)
Lack/Informational (Positive Reports)	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A
Lack/Informational (Negative Reports)	7	16.14 (2.91)	7.71 (1.38)	13.42 (4.89)	6.85 (2.12)
Appraisal (Positive Reports)	1	16.00 (N/A)	8.00 (N/A)	17.00 (N/A)	9.00 (N/A)
Appraisal (Negative Reports)	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A
Lack/Appraisal (Positive Reports)	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A
Lack/Appraisal (Negative Reports)	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A
Other (Positive Reports)	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A
Other (Negative Reports)	4	14.25 (4.92)	8.00 (.82)	15.25 (3.59)	7.75 (.96)
Uncodable (Positive Reports)	3	10.67 (4.93)	7.00 (1.00)	10.00 (6.25)	6.67 (.58)
Uncodable (Negative Reports)	2	15.00 (2.83)	7.75 (1.41)	9.50 (.3.53)	8.00 (.82)

 Table 7b: Descriptive Statistics – Correspondence Between Narrative Reports and CASSS (Instrumental Sub-items)

House (1981) Category	N	Teacher Frequency Mean (sd.)	Teacher Importance Mean (sd.)	School Pers. Frequency Mean (sd.)	School Pers. Importance Mean (sd.)
Emotional	7	12.29 (4.57)	6.71 (.49)	11.86 (4.14)	6.42 (1.27)
(Positive Reports) Emotional (Negative Reports)	4	16.25 (1.50)	7.00 (.00)	13.50 (4.51)	6.50 (1.73)
Lack/Emotional (Positive Reports)	4	12.75 (1.50)	6.00 (.00)	11.25 (3.30)	6.25 (.50)
(rositive Reports) Lack/Emotional (Negative Reports)	10	12.50 (2.67)	6.40 (.52)	11.90 (2.33)	6.20 (.63)
Instructional (Positive Reports)	17	14.18 (2.94)	7.47 (1.33)	11.76 (3.44)	6.94 (1.25)
(Positive Reports) Instructional (Negative Reports)	2	12.00 (1.41)	7.00 (2.82)	13.50 (.71)	7.50 (.71)
Lack/Instructional	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A
(Positive Reports) Lack/Instructional (Negative Reports)	5	10.40 (4.34)	7.60 (1.34)	9.60 (3.36)	7.00 (1.22)
Informational (Positive Reports)	20	13.75 (2.80)	7.20 (1.36)	13.90 (3.64)	7.30 (1.53)
(Negative Reports) (Negative Reports)	4	13.00 (2.16)	7.50 (1.73)	13.00 (2.16)	6.50 (1.00)
Lack/Informational (Positive Reports)	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A
Lack/Informational (Negative Reports)	7	13.85 (3.24)	6.86 (1.68)	14.28 (3.55)	7.00 (2.00)
Appraisal (Positive Reports)	1	18.00 (N/A)	9.00 (N/A)	16.00 (N/A)	8.00 (N/A)
Appraisal (Negative Reports)	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A
Lack/Appraisal (Positive Reports)	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A
Lack/Appraisal (Negative Reports)	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A
Other (Positive Reports)	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A
Other (Negative Reports)	4	15.00 (3.46)	8.25 (.50)	15.00 (3.46)	8.50 (1.00)
Uncodable (Positive Reports)	3	12.00 (3.61)	7.67 (1.53)	9.33 (3.21)	6.00 (.00)
Uncodable (Negative Reports)	2	13.00 (2.83)	8.50 (1.00)	9.50 (.71)	7.25 (1.41)

 Table 7c: Descriptive Statistics – Correspondence Between Narrative Reports and

 CASSS (Appraisal Sub-items)

House (1981) Category	Ν	Teacher Frequency Mean (sd.)	Teacher Importance Mean (sd.)	School Pers. Frequency Mean (sd.)	School Pers Importance Mean (sd.)
Emotional (Positive Reports)	7	14.43 (3.95)	7.43 (1.27)	13.43 (3.95)	6.57 (1.81)
Emotional (Negative Reports)	4	17.25 (.98)	8.00 (1.15)	14.75 (3.40)	6.50 (1.73)
Lack/Emotional (Positive Reports)	4	14.50 (3.10)	7.00 (1.41)	12.75 (1.71)	6.75 (1.50)
(Toshive Reports) Lack/Emotional (Negative Reports)	10	14.40 (3.24)	7.20 (1.23)	12.50 (2.88)	6.60 (1.26)
Instructional (Positive Reports)	17	14.82 (2.92)	7.59 (1.28)	12.53 (3.24)	7.65 (1.41)
(rositive Reports) Instructional (Negative Reports)	2	14.50 (3.54)	7.50 (2.12)	11.50 (.71)	8.00 (1.41)
Lack/Instructional (Positive Reports)	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A
(Positive Reports) Lack/Instructional (Negative Reports)	5	12.00 (3.81)	8.00 (3.09)	8.60 (3.29)	8.60 (3.29)
Informational (Positive Reports)	20	16.40 (1.42)	8.60 (.82)	14.45 (3.93)	7.65 (1.31)
(Negative Reports) (Negative Reports)	4	16.75 (.96)	7.60 (1.67)	16.25 (2.87)	8.40 (.89)
Lack/Informational (Positive Reports)	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A
Lack/Informational (Negative Reports)	7	16.00 (2.65)	7.25 (1.50)	15.00 (3.74)	6.75 (1.50)
Appraisal (Positive Reports)	1	17.00 (N/A)	8.00 (N/A)	18.00 (N/A)	9.00 (N/A)
Appraisal (Negative Reports)	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A
Lack/Appraisal (Positive Reports)	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A
Lack/Appraisal (Negative Reports)	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A
Other (Positive Reports)	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A
Other (Negative Reports)	4	13.75 (4.35)	9.00 (.00)	14.75 (3.77)	8.50 (.58)
Uncodable (Positive Reports)	3	12.67 (4.93)	8.33 (.57)	10.00 (5.29)	7.66 (1.15)
Uncodable (Negative Reports)	2	15.00 (1.41)	8.25 (.60)	13.50 (2.12)	7.50 (1.11)

Table 7d: Descriptive Statistics – Correspondence Between Narrative Reports and
CASSS (Informational Sub-items)

Discussion

The primary purpose of the present study was to identify which types of social support and specific behaviors displayed by teachers and other school professionals were found to provide high and/or low social support to middle school students. In order to investigate this research question, qualitative narrative reports (CIT) and quantitative rating scales (CASSS) measuring social support were completed by participants. The qualitative portion of the study focused on several research questions, whereas the quantitative portion of the study was examined by addressing a hypothesis.

• Question 1: When asked to describe times when they received high/low levels of social support at school, what types of social support emerged most frequently in student narrative reports? And, did the most frequently reported forms of social support correspond with those found in Suldo et al. (2009)?

Based on previous research (Suldo et al., 2009), it was predicted that Emotional and Instrumental support would emerge most frequently. Similarly, when asked to describe times with low levels of support, it was predicted Lack of/Negative Emotional Support and Lack of/Negative Instrumental Support would emerge most frequently. Results indicated that when prompted to describe experiences where high social support was displayed, "Informational Support" (40%), "Instrumental Support" (29%), and "Emotional Support" (19%) emerged most frequently. These results helped to clarify that, with only a prompt to describe a positive experience, students tended to describe experiences where Informational, Instrumental, and/or Emotional support were offered. These results provided support to previous research (Suldo et al., 2009) showing that middle school students find emotional and instrumental support to be most meaningful. Within the middle school setting, these results are not far-fetched, as the demands and difficulty level of academics and the demand for abstract thinking become increasingly expected – students may require more informational, instrumental, and emotional support from their teachers, and may feel unsupported if they do not receive those types of supports.

Results further indicated that when prompted to describe experiences where low social support was displayed, "Lack of/Negative Emotional Support" (30%) emerged most frequently in student reports. These results indicated that students find it most problematic when teachers fail to establish sufficient trust and fail to express empathy or care. These results may provide support to previous research (House, 1981) stating that when individuals are asked about social support, they primarily think of emotional support. As such, when asked to "think about a time when one of your teachers or another person working in your school provided negative social support", it seems logical that students would gravitate towards describing an experience where a lack of emotional support was provided.

Further investigation of the positive and negative narrative reports revealed that, when asked to describe a positive form of social support, 4 students (6%) described experiences that were coded as negative forms of social support by raters. Similarly, when asked to describe a negative form of social support, 10 students (23%) described experiences that were coded as positive forms of social support by raters. Further investigation of this discrepancy revealed that these students reported incorrect experiences despite being prompted to describe a positive or negative experience. Within the positive narrative reports, this discrepancy (6%) is not very meaningful; however, within the negative narrative reports, such a discrepancy (23%) may indicate that students find it easier to think about and describe positive experiences related to social support. These findings, in addition to the previously mentioned, provide additional support to previous research (House, 1981) explaining that when individuals think of being socially supported, they think mainly of emotional support.

• Question 2: When asked to describe times when they received high/low levels of social support at school, what types of teacher behaviors emerged most frequently in student narrative reports?

It was predicted that the most frequent teacher behaviors would be those associated with Emotional and/or Instrumental support (e.g., conveys interest in student wellness, improves student mood/emotion, interest in student progress, welcomes questions). Similarly, the most frequent unsupportive teacher behaviors would be those naturally associated with Lack of/Negative Emotional and/or Lack of/Negative Instructional support (e.g., conveys disinterest in student wellness, causes negative student mood/emotion, insufficient interest in student progress, discourages questions).

Results indicated that when prompted to describe experiences where high social support was displayed, "Interest in Student Progress" (40%), "Improves Student Mood/Emotion" (21%), and "Conveys Interest In Student Wellness" (10%) emerged most frequently in student reports. These reports provided partial support to the emerged teacher behaviors reported by students in Suldo et al. (2009). Based on these reports, students are encouraged when their teachers check for individual understanding, provide assistance/help, communicate care about students' emotional well-being and personal interests, and create a positive emotional environment. These results were also consistent

with and appeared to be naturally related to the most frequently reported forms of positive social support (i.e., Informational, Instrumental, Emotional support) by students.

Results further indicated that when prompted to describe experiences where low social support was displayed, "Causes Negative Student Mood/Emotion" (40%) and "Punishment in Incorrect Manner" (14%) emerged most frequently in student reports. Based on these results, students perceived the lowest amount of social support when their teachers create a negative emotional environment, display insufficient attempts to alleviate personal or academic concerns, punish automatically, or punish the incorrect student/s for an incident. These results were consistent with student narrative reports indicating that "Lack of/Negative Emotional Support" emerged as a frequent type of social support.

• Question 3: What types of social support and teacher behaviors corresponded most frequently, and what did those interactions reveal?

It was predicted that corresponding types of social support and teacher behaviors would be similar in nature (i.e., Emotional Support X Improves Student Mood/Emotion). In reviewing the correspondence between positive types of social support and teacher behaviors, several interactions were identified ("Informational Support" and "Interest in Student Progress" (19 reports), "Emotional Support" and "Conveys Interest in Student Wellness" (7 reports), "Instrumental Support" and "Improves Student Moods/Emotion" (7 reports), "Instrumental Support" and "Interest in Student Progress" (7 reports). Similarly, with regards to negative types of social support and corresponding teacher behaviors, one interaction was identified ("Lack of/Negative Emotional Support" and "Causes Negative Student Mood/Emotion" (8 reports). These interactions revealed logical positive and negative interactions between the type of social support described and the type of teacher behavior that produced that social support. For example, by providing a student with Informational support (i.e., providing advice or information to a student so that he/she may use that advice or information to help himself/herself academically), the teacher oftentimes displays behaviors that show they have interest in the student's progress. Similarly, when a teacher provides a student with Emotional support (i.e., providing the student with trust, empathy, and care) the teacher oftentimes displays behaviors that convey interest in the student's wellness.

Negative interactions, such as "Lack of/Negative Emotional Support" and "Causes Negative Student Mood/Emotion" revealed that when teachers fail to provide trust, empathy and care, students perceive a negative environment where insufficient attempts to alleviate personal or academic concern is displayed. In turn, and as previous research has confirmed, students who receive low emotional support from teachers and other school professionals have been linked with school failure and dropout (Baker, 1999), increased levels of externalizing and/or internalizing behavior problems (Huebner & Diener, 2008), lower levels of self-worth (Malecki & Elliott, 1999), self-control (Merritt et al., 2012), and school engagement and academic success (e.g., Lee et al., 1999; Hamre & Pianta, 2005) in comparison to their more socially supported peers.

Although other interactions were identified through cross-tabulation, their frequencies were too low to be interpreted as meaningful when looking at the data as a whole. However, that is not to say that those interactions are not important to students, as the importance of social support is based on subjective perceptions.

• Hypothesis: The positive social support experiences narrated by students would also be identified as the most frequently and important forms of social support illustrated within the results of the CASSS.

It was predicted that, as addressed in *Question 1*, Emotional and Instrumental support would emerge as most frequent and important on the CASSS and be consistent with previous findings (Suldo et al., 2009). In order to address this hypothesis, a comparison was made between the results of the CASSS and the types of social supports that emerged most frequently in student narrative reports of positive social support experiences (i.e., Informational, Instrumental, and Emotional support). Results of this comparison indicated that Emotional support and Informational support were consistently reported as being observed most frequently across qualitative (i.e., CIT) and quantitative (i.e., CASSS) measures. Similarly, Emotional support and Informational support were consistently reported as being perceived most importantly on the Teacher and School Personnel subscales of the CASSS. Instrumental support, although likely not significantly discrepant from other forms of social support on the CASSS, was not reported as frequent or as important as Emotional or Informational support.

As previously discussed, these results may indicate that students observe these types of support most frequently and view them most importantly because their level of schooling. Within the middle school environment, peer relationships, social emotional functioning, and academic work becomes more complex. As such, students may require their teachers to provide both emotional and informational support on a constant basis.

In comparing the Teacher and School Personnel scales to one another, it was apparent that students observe socially supportive behaviors more frequently from their teachers than from other school professionals (i.e., speech pathologists, social workers, administrators, etc.); however, these differences may not be statistically significant. This discrepancy is likely due to the fact that students spend the majority of their time at school within the classroom setting under the supervision of a classroom teacher, not another type of school professional. In reviewing the Importance outcomes of each subscale, students reported very similar ratings between teachers and other school professionals. This indicates that regardless of position (i.e., teacher or other school professional), students' value each type of social support and endorse each type of social support as being important to them.

Study Limitations, Implications for School Psychologists, and Future Research

Due to the qualitative nature of the present study, certain limitations were expected and noted regarding the coding scheme and its reliability. Although moderate to substantial inter-rater reliability was observed, codes were subjectively assigned to narrative reports using the coding manual created for this study. Moreover, oftentimes one code could not sufficiently measure the type of social support or teacher behavior, as many types of social support or teacher behaviors may have been illustrated within one narrative report.

Another limitation was noted in the assignment of teacher behavior codes to narrative reports. Specifically, the teacher behavior categories adopted from Suldo et al. (2009) were created to measure the social support provided by *teachers*, and in the present study, a total of 29 narrative reports reflected an actor type of someone other than a teacher/school personnel (i.e., Peer, Family Member, Other, Unspecified). However, these reports were still coded using the categories of teacher behaviors adopted from

Suldo et al. (2009), as regardless of actor type, the incidents reflected in these reports appeared to be capable of being categorized using those codes. Regardless, the use of teacher behavior categories to code behaviors displayed non-teachers/school personnel may have impacted the validity of those results.

As previously discussed, the research and literature pertaining to social support within the educational environment is expansive; however, much research is needed to advance our understanding of how students perceive social support from their teachers and other school professionals. It is important for school professionals to understand the similarities and differences between the four types of social support and understand how and when to utilize those supports to advocate for student success.

With their extensive background in data and research interpretation, effective communication of best practices, and understanding of child/adolescent development and response to positive social and behavioral supports, school psychologists are in a great position to serve as change agents within the educational setting. Moreover, school psychologists can work in collaboration with school professionals, parents and community members to help ensure that social support be provided to all students across settings, and that social support practices be held to the same standard as those in academics.

Schools can use this type of research to guide practice regarding social support implementation and can independently measure what types of social support their students perceive as being most meaningful. Additional research should be conducted to confirm as well as expand on the present results. Expanding on these results will increase the specificity of types of social supports and teacher behaviors that students perceive as being meaningful within the school environment. Additional research should also examine the level of training teachers receive through their training programs and through professional development regarding social support.

References

- Andersson, B., & Nilsson, S. (1964). Studies in the reliability and validity of the critical incident technique. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 48, 398-403. http://dx.doi.org/10.1037/h0042025
- Anderson, L., & Wilson, S. (1997). Critical incident technique. Conducting Job Analyses, 89-112.

http://dx.doi.org/10.1177/1468794105056924

- Baker, J. A. (1999). Teacher-student interaction in urban at-risk classrooms: Differential behavior, relationship quality and student satisfaction with school. *The Elementary School Journal*, 100, 57-70.
 http://dx.doi.org/10.1086/461943
- Baker, J. A., Dilly, L. J., Aupperlee, J. L., & Patil, S. A. (2003). The developmental context of school satisfaction: Schools as psychologically healthy environments. *School Psychology Quarterly*, 18, 206 -221. http://dx.doi.org/10.1521/scpq.18.2.206.21861
- Baker, M., & Johnston, P. (2010). The impact of socioeconomic status on high stakes testing reexamined. *The Journal of Instructional Psychology*, 37, 3, 193-199. http://dx.doi.org/10.1002/pits.20120
- Barnes, T. I. (1960). The critical incident technique. *Sociology and Social Research*, 44, 345-347.

http://dx.doi.org/10.1111/j.1467-8624.2005.00889.x

Benson, P. L. (2006). All kids are our kids: What communities must do to raise caring and responsible children and adolescents (2nd ed). San Francisco, CA: JosseyBass.

http://dx.doi.org/10.1002/pits.20120

Bitner, M. J., Booms, B. H., & Tetreault, M. S. (1990). The service encounter:
Diagnosing favorable and unfavorable incidents. *Journal of Marketing*, 54, 71-84.
http://dx.doi.org/10.2307/1252174

Cohen, J. (1960). A coefficient of agreement for nominal scales. *Educational and Psychological Measurement, 20*, 37-46.

http://dx.doi.org/10.1177/001316446002000104

Chell, E. (1998). The critical incident technique, in G. Symon and C. Cassell et al. (EDs).
 Qualitative Methods and Analysis in Organizational Research: A practical guide,
 London: Sage, pp.51-72.

http://dx.doi.org/10.2307/1252174

Chell, E. (2004) Critical incident technique. *Qualitative Methods in Organization Studies*, London: Sage, p. 44-60.

http://dx.doi.org/10.1086/461943

Close, W., Solberg, S. (2008). Predicting achievement, distress, and retention among lower-income Latino youth. *Journal of Vocational Behavior*, 72, 31-42. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.jvb.2007.08.007

Corbally, J. E. (1956). The critical incident technique and educational research. *Educational Research Bulletin*, 35, 57-62. http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/s10964-007-9258-3

Dubow, E. F., Tisak, J., Causey, D., Hryshko, A., & Reid, G. (1991). A Two-Year Longitudinal Study of Stressful Life Events, Social Support, and Social ProblemSolving Skills: Contributions to Children's Behavioral and Academic Adjustment. *Child Development, 62*, 583- 599.

http://dx.doi.org/10.2307/1131133

- Dee, T. S., & Jacob, B. (2011). The impact of No Child Left Behind on student achievement. Journal of Policy Analysis and Management, 30, 418-446. http://dx.doi.org/10.1002/pam.20586
- Demaray, M. K., & Elliott, S. N. (2001). Perceived social support by children with characteristics of attention-deficit/hyperactivity disorder. *School Psychology Quarterly*, 16, 68–90.
- Demaray M.K., Malecki, C.K. (2002). Critical levels of perceived social support associated with student adjustment. *School Psychology Quarterly*, 17, 213-241.
- Demaray, M.K., Malecki, C.K. (2003). Importance ratings of socially supportive behaviors by children and adolescents. *School Psychology Review*, 32, 108-131. http://dx.doi.org/10.1002/pam.20586
- Demaray, M., Malecki, C., Davidson, L., Hodgson, K., & Rebus, J. (2005). The relationship between social support and student adjustment: A longitudinal analysis. *Psychology in the Schools, 42*, 691-706. http://dx.doi.org/10.1002/pits.20120

Demaray, M. K., Malecki, C. K., Rueger, S. Y., Brown, S. E., & Summers, K. H. (2009).
The role of youth's ratings of the importance of socially supportive behaviors in the relationship between social support and self-concept. *Journal of Youth Adolescence*, *38*, 13-28.

http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/s10964-007-9258-3

Flanagan, J. C. (1954). The critical incident technique. *Psychological Bulletin*, *51*, 4, 327-358.

http://dx.doi.org/10.1037/h0061470

Flanagan, J. C., Gosnell, D., & Fivars, G. (1963). Evaluating student performance. *The American Journal of Nursing*, 96-99.

http://dx.doi.org/10.2307/3453034

Goldhaber, D. (2002). The mystery of good teaching. Education Next, 2, 1, 50-55.

Gremler, D. D. (2004). The critical incident technique in service research. *Journal of Service Research*, 7, 65-89.

http://dx.doi.org/10.1177/1094670504266138

Guisbond, L., Neill, M., & Schaeffer, B. (2012). NCLB's lost decade for educational progress: What can we learn from this policy failure? *FairTest: National Center for Fair and Open Testing. FairTest: National Center for Fair and Open Testing.*Retrieved from

http://fairtest.org/sites/default/files/NCLB_Report_Final_Layout.pdf

Hamre, B. K. & Pianta, R. C. (2005). Can instructional and emotional support in the firstgrade classroom make a difference for children at risk of school failure? *Child Development*, 76, 949-967.

http://dx.doi.org/10.1111/j.1467-8624.2005.00889.x

House, J. S. (1981). Work stress and social support. Reading, MA: Addison-Wesley.

Huebner, E. S., & Diener, C. I. (2008). Research on life satisfaction of children and youth: Implications for the delivery of school-related services. In M. Eiud, & R. J. Larson, *The Science of Subjective Well Being* (pp.376-392). New York: NY:

Guilford.

http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/s10964-007-9258-3

- Kain, D. L. (1997). Teacher collaboration on interdisciplinary teams. *Research in Middle* Level Education Quarterly, 21, 1-29.
- Kain, D. L. (2004). Owning significance: The critical incident technique in research. In
 K. deMarrais & S. D. Lapan (Eds.). *Foundations for research: Methods of inquiry in education and the social sciences* (pp. 69-85). Mahwah, NJ: Lawrence Erlbaum.
- Lazarus, P. J., & Sulkowski, M. L. (2011). The emotional well-being of our nation's youth and the promise of social-emotional learning. *Communiqué*, 2. http://dx.doi.org/10.1037/h0042025
- Lee, V. E., Smith, J. B., Perry, T. E., & Smylle, M. A. (1999). Social support, academic press, and student achievement: A view from the middle grades in Chicago. *Improving Chicago's Schools*, 1- 32.

http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/s10964-007-9258-3

- Malecki, C. K., & Elliott, S. N. (1999). Adolescents' ratings of perceived social support and its importance: Validation of the Student Social Support Scale. *Psychology in the Schools, 36*, 473–483.
- Malecki, C.K., Demaray, M.K., & Elliott, S.N. (2000). *The Child and Adolescent Social Support Scale*. DeKalb, IL: Northern Illinois University.
- Malecki, C.K. & Demaray, M. K. (2002). Measuring perceived social support: development of the child and adolescent social support scale (CASSS).*Psychology in the Schools, 39*, 1-18.

- Merritt, E. G., Wanless, S. B., Rimm-Kaufman, S. E., Cameron, C., and Peugh, J. L.
 (2012). The contribution of teachers' emotional support to children's social behaviors and self-regulatory skills in first grade. *School Psychology Review*, 41, 141-159.
- Moore, H., "Middle school teachers' perceptions of strategies that provide social support to students" (2012). *Masters Theses*. Paper 898. http://thekeep.eiu.edu/theses/898
- O'Brien, P., Mills, K., Fraser, A., & Andersson, J. (2011). An invitation to grieve:
 Reconsidering critical incident responses by support teams in the school setting.
 Australian Journal of Guidance and Counseling, 21, 60-73.
 http://dx.doi.org/10.1375/ajgc.21.1.60
- Pianta, R. C., La Paro, K. M., & Hamre, B. K. (2008). Classroom assessment scoring system (Class). Baltimore, MD: Paul H. Brookes Publishing Co.
- Radford, M. L. (2006). The critical incident technique and the qualitative evaluation of the connecting libraries and schools project. *Library Trends*, 55, 46-64. http://dx.doi.org/10.1353/lib.2006.0051
- Reeve, J., & Hyungshim, J. (2006). What teachers say and do to support students' autonomy during a learning activity. *Journal of Educational Psychology*, 98, 209-218. http://dx.doi.org/10.1037/0022-0663.98.1.209

Reich, G. A., & Bally, D. (2010). Get smart: Facing high-stakes testing together. The Social Studies, 101, 179-184.

http://dx.doi.org/10.1080/00377990903493838

Resnicow, K., Cross, D., & Wynder, E. (1993). The Know Your Body program: A review of evaluation studies. *Journal of Urban Health: Bulletin of the New York*

Academy of Medicine, 70, 188–207.

- Skinner, E. A., Zimmer-Gembeck, M. J., & Connell, J. P. (1998). Individual differences in the development of perceived control. *Monographs of the Society for Research in Child Development, 254*, Chicago: The University of Chicago Press.
- Stano, M. (1983). The critical incident technique: A description of the method. Paper presented at the Annual Meeting of the Southern Speech Communication Association (Lincoln, NE, April 7-9, 1983).
- Stauss, B. (1993). Using the critical incident technique in measuring and managing service quality. *The Service Quality Handbook*, 408-427. http://dx.doi.org/10.1037/h0042025
- Suldo, S. M., & Shaffer, E. J. (2008). Looking beyond psychopathology: The dual-factor model of mental health in youth. *School Psychology Review*, 37, 52-86.
- Suldo, S. M., Friedrich, A. A., White, T., Farmer, J., Minch, D., & Michalowski, J. (2009). Teacher support and adolescents' subjective well-being: A mixed methods investigation. *School Psychology Review*, 38, 67-85.
- Titscher, J., Meyer, S., Wodak, A., & Vetter, S. (2000). *Methods of text and discourse analysis*. Sage publications, New Delhi.
- U. S. Department of Education (2001). Public Law of PL 107-110, the No Child Left Behind Act of 2001. Retrieved from http://www2.ed.gov/policy/elsec/leg/esea02/index.html

- Viera, A. J. & Garrett, J. M. (2005). Understanding interobserver agreement: The kappa statistic. *Family Medicine*, *37*, 360-363.
- Woolsey, L. K. (1986). The critical incident technique: An innovative qualitative method of research. *Canadian Journal of Counseling*, 20, 4, 242-254.

http://dx.doi.org/10.1037/h0042025

Appendix A – Principal Contact Letter

Dear Principal:

My name is Dean Pappas, and I am currently a third year graduate student at Eastern Illinois University in the Specialist in School Psychology graduate program. This school year I am completing my required internship under the supervision of Saloan Goulet, school psychologist at Century Junior High in Orland Park, IL. I hope this letter finds you well!

I am writing in regards to a research project that I am completing for my specialist degree thesis under the supervision of Dr. Steven Scher, professor of psychology at EIU, with the hopes of having students from your school serve as participants. The topic of my study is middle school students' perceptions of social support in the school setting. Social support has been defined as an individual's perception that he or she is cared for, esteemed, and valued by people in his or her social network, that enhances personal functioning, assists in coping adequately with stressors, and may buffer him or her from adverse outcomes. Specifically, students will be asked to describe some of their social experiences at school in addition to filling out a survey pertaining to social support in the school environment.

With your permission, I would like come into (SCHOOL NAME) to recruit students between 6th and 8th grade to participate in my research. Students will be asked to login to a website from home, and complete a survey. I anticipate for participation to take less than 1-hour. To participate in the study students would need to bring home a parent consent form (which will explain the study in detail). Once students give assent and parents return the signed consent forms, each student's parents will be contacted with the necessary login information to the website where their children will complete the survey. Once again, the survey will be completed at home, not at school.

The Eastern Illinois University ethics committee (IRB) has reviewed and accepted the purpose and methodology of this study. The IRB committee requires written permission from each participating school vouching for the appropriateness of the study at the school.

I appreciate your time and consideration and I hope for the opportunity to work with your school in the near future. Please feel free to email or call me with any questions or concerns (<u>djpappas@eiu.edu</u>; 708-548-7856). You may also contact my thesis supervisor, Dr. Steven Scher, with any additional questions (<u>sjscher@eiu.edu</u>; 217-581-7269). I will call to follow-up with you within a week to answer any questions. Thank you in advance.

Sincerely,

Dean Pappas, School Psychology Graduate Student ***Below is an outline, for your convenience***

Title of Research

• "Assessing Middle School Students' Perceptions of Social Support Provided by Teachers and Other School Professionals"

Purpose

• To gain a better understanding of the social supports used by teachers and other school professionals

Study Components

- Self-report completed at home by the student (approximately 30 min)
- Social support questionnaire (approximately 10 min)

Participants

- Middle school students (6th, 7th, 8th)
 O Written assent from each student participating in the study
- Parents of the student
 - o Written consent

Need from School/Organization

- Letter on school/organization letter head stationary stating:
 - Agreement for the study to be conducted
 - Contact person at the school/organization who can provide information about the appropriateness of the research at the school/organization

Dean Pappas, B.A., S.S.P. Candidate School Psychology Intern Eastern Illinois University <u>dipappas@eiu.edu</u> 708-548-7856 Appendix B – Letter of Assent (Student Copy)

Dear Student:

My name is Mr. Pappas, and I am studying at Eastern Illinois University to become a School Psychologist. This school year I am working at Century Junior High to complete my internship.

As part of my schoolwork, I have to do a research project. My project focuses on learning more about social support in the schools and is supervised by my professor, Dr. Steven Scher. We are asking middle school students to fill out a survey about the types of social support they receive at school.

The survey will ask you to describe how teachers and other school staff provide you with social support. We will also ask you to answer some questions about school. It will probably take you about 30-minutes to finish. When you fill out the survey, your responses will be completely anonymous. That is, your name will not be connected with any of your responses. Also, if you participate in the study you might win one of two \$25 gift cards to your choice of stores and/or websites (iTunes, Amazon.com, Wal-Mart, Best Buy, etc.).

If you are interested in participating please fill out the bottom section of this letter and turn it back in to me. I will give you a form to take home to get your parents' permission.

Thank you very much for your consideration!

Yes, I would like to participate _____ No, I would not like to participate

Your Name:

School: _____

Grade: _____

Appendix C - Letter of Consent

Dear Parent or Guardian:

My name is Dean Pappas, and I am working at Orland School District 135 as a School Psychologist Intern. As part of my training, I am required to complete a thesis project regarding a specific area of research. My supervisor, Dr. Steven Scher, and I are seeking your help in this by asking if you would be willing to allow your child to complete an online survey about how teachers and other school personnel offer social support. We would be very grateful if you would allow your son or daughter to participate.

The study will be looking at how your son or daughter views social support at school by filling out a survey. We are interested in learning more about the types of social support offered by teachers and other school personnel and assessing which types of support students view as being important for success.

With your permission, the survey will be made available for your child to access on a secure survey webpage online. We expect the survey to take approximately 30-minutes to complete and your child's responses will be completely anonymous.

By allowing your child to participate, you are providing them with an opportunity to take part in research aimed at improving school environments and overall education. Additionally, following participation your child can choose to enter a drawing to win one of two \$25 gift cards to various locations (e.g., iTunes, Amazom.com, Wal-Mart, Best Buy, etc.).

If you would be willing to consider helping us by allowing your child to participate, please have your child return the bottom section of this letter to the main office at school. I will contact you to answer any questions you might have and provide your child with all the necessary login information needed for the survey webpage.

The survey will not be done at your child's school or without your written permission. Thank you very much for your consideration! Your assistance will make a very important contribution to improving the school environment for your children and future students.

Res	pectful	lv.
1000	peetrui	

Dean Pappas
School Psychology Intern
Century Junior High
dpappas@orland135.org
_____Yes, I give my consent
Parent Signature: ______
Parent Email: ______
Name of Child: ______

Appendix D – Email to Parents

Dear Parents:

Thank you for having your child return their signed permission form to participate in the Social Support Survey. Your child's participation in this process will be extremely useful in expanding the research on social support and increasing how these types of support are offered at school.

It is important that this type of research be completed so we can continue to understand how to most effectively educate your children.

The next step is for your child to login to the survey webpage and complete the survey. The link posted below is a secured webpage through Eastern Illinois University.

Please have your child click the link below on a computer and proceed with completing the survey. Before beginning the survey, your child will need to type in a password (indicated below). **Please have your child complete the survey as soon as possible.**

Again, thank you so much for your support in this process. If you have any questions or concerns, please do not hesitate to contact me by responding to this email, or by calling me at 708-548-7856.

If you have any difficulties with the link, try to copy and paste into a different browser (internet explorer seems to work well). If you continue to have difficulties with accessing the survey, please contact me.

<Webpage Link> <password>

Respectfully, Dean Pappas

Dean Pappas School Psychology Intern Century Junior High <u>dpappas@orland135.org</u> Appendix E – Social Support Survey

Welcome to the social support survey! Please answer the following questions in order before moving on. When you complete the survey you will be redirected to a page where you can enter to win a \$25 gift card!

Please take your time filling out the survey and answer all the questions honestly. Your name and personal information will not be included with your answers.

Click the arrow below to move on to the next section.

Are you male or female? □Male□ □Female□

What grade are you in?

Estimate your current grade point average (GPA).

□ 4.0 or higher □ □ 3.0 - 4.0 □ □ 2.0 - 3.0 □ □ 1.0 - 2.0 □

Are you involved in any sports, clubs or groups outside of school?

□Yes□ □No□ Think about a time when one of your teachers or another person who works at your school provided you with social support. Specifically, think about a time when someone did something that you found to be helpful in some way.

Try to remember what happened in as much detail as possible. When you clearly remember the event, start answering the following questions. Please do not name any people involved in your reports.

How long ago was this experience?

Where did this experience take place?

Classroom

Teacher/Principal office

Other

Who made you feel this way? Teacher Classroom helper Principal/Assistant Principal Someone else

What was happening that led up to this experience? Describe the situation you were in.

Describe in detail what actually happened. How did the school employee act? What did they do?

How did this experience affect you?

How did this make you feel? Did this have any other effects on you or anyone else?

How truthful were you when describing this experience? □Very Truthful□ □Somewhat Truthful□ □Untruthful□ Think about a time when one of your teachers or another person working in your school provided **negative social support**. Specifically, think about a time **when someone did something that you found to be not helpful in some way**.

Try to remember what happened in as much detail as possible. When you clearly remember the event, start answering the following questions. Please do not name any people involved in your reports.

How long ago was this experience? Today Within 2 weeks Other

Where did this experience take place? Classroom Teacher/Principal office Other Other

Who made you feel this way? Teacher Classroom helper Principal/Assistant Principal Someone else

What was happening that led up to this experience? Describe the situation you were in.

Describe in detail what actually happened. How did the school employee act? What did they do?

How did this experience affect you?

How did this make you feel? Did this have any other effects on you or anyone else?

How truthful were you when describing this experience?

Thank you very much for describing these events for us. If you have other examples of events that you would like to tell us about, choose which type you want to write about, and it will take you to another form to do it. Thanks!

□ Describe another positive incident □
□ Describe another negative incident □
□ I'm Done □

For each sentence you are asked to provide **two** responses. First rate **how often** you receive the support described and then rate **how important** the support is to you. Make sure you select **two** answers for each item.

My Teacher(s)...

How Often

(N) (AN) (S) (MT) (AA) (A)

...cares about me.

... treats me fairly.

...makes it ok to ask questions.

... explains things that I don't understand.

... shows me how to do things.

...helps me solve problems by giving me information.

...tells me I did a good job when I've done something well.

...nicely tells me when I make mistakes.

...tells me how well I do on tasks.

...makes sure I have what I need for school.

...takes time to help me learn to do something.

...spends time with me when I need help.

How Important

(N) (AN) (S) (MT) (AA) (A)

For each sentence you are asked to provide **two** responses. First rate **how often** you receive the support described and then rate **how important** the support is to you. Make sure you select **two** answers for each item.

People in My School...

How Often

How Important

(N) (AN) (S) (MT) (AA) (A)

(N) (AN) (S) (MT) (AA) (A)

...care about me.

...treat me fairly.

...make it ok to ask questions.

...explain things that I don't understand.

...show me how to do things.

...help me solve problems by giving me information.

...tell me I did a good job when I've done something well.

...nicely tell me when I make mistakes.

...tell me how well I do on tasks.

...make sure I have what I need for school.

...take time to help me learn to do something.

... spend time with me when I need help.

Appendix F – Survey for Identifying Information

Thank you for participating in the social support survey. Please fill out the following information if you choose to enter to win a \$25 gift card.

What is your first and last name?

What school do you attend?

What grade are you in?

Please provide a phone number and/or email so that we may contact you.

If you win the drawing, which store would you like a gift card to?

Best Buy
Target
Dick's Sporting Goods
Marcus Theatres
Starbucks
McDonalds
iTunes
Game Stop
Amazon

Again, Thank You for your time spent taking this survey. Your responses have been recorded!

Appendix G - Coding Manual

Coding Manual: Definitions of Social Support & Teaching Behaviors:

For each incident, place one Code for each List/Category. Choose the code that most applies.

If you feel that there are secondary codes that should also apply, explain in the notes section. This includes categories that are not on the list.

You are encouraged to code incidents in the 'other' category if they don't seem to fit any of the given categories on the list. Please indicate your interpretation of the type of support behavior.

Some incidents may be uncodable: either because they don't have enough information, or because they aren't really social support-related behaviors. Indicate that on the coding sheet, and provide information as to the reason it is uncodable.

List 1: Actor Type - Code who the person doing the socially supportive behavior is:

- Teacher/School Professional
- Peer
- Family Member

List 2: Social Support Type Identified by House (1981) with negative counterpart:

These categories are general types of social support that a teacher (or other) can provide to a student. Please code the primary type of support/lack of support reported in the incident. Indicate any secondary codes in the notes section.

- 1. Emotional Support: Providing the student with trust, empathy, and care. Emotional support can focus on both educational and/or personal experiences (e.g., a student walks into her teacher's office crying and asks to talk. The teacher stops everything she is doing, listens to the student, and offers suggestions how to appropriately work through the problem).
- 2. Lack/Negative Use of Emotional Support: Failure to establish sufficient trust between the school professional and the student. Teacher/School professional (or other person) does not express empathy or care towards students. A lack of emotional support can focus on both educational and/or personal experiences.
- **3. Instrumental Support**: Offering one's time and/or skills to help students. Includes behaviors that directly help students in need of academic help (e.g., a teacher offers to supervise a group of students working on a project during lunch) or personal support (e.g., after a student missed his bus, the classroom teacher waited with him at school until his parents picked him up).
- **4.** Lack/Negative Use of Instrumental Support: Failure to offer sufficient time or skills to help students in need of academic help (e.g., a teacher expects her students to understand new and difficult concepts the first time without reviewing the material) or personal support (e.g., a teacher is unwilling to meet with a student to talk about a missing assignment).

- 5. Informational Support: Providing advice or information to a student so that he/she may use that advice or information to help *himself/herself* academically (e.g., a teacher demonstrates how to solve long-division problems to her students in a way that is easy to understand and apply to real world problems) or personally (e.g., a teacher discusses basic organizational skills with a student who frequently loses his homework).
- 6. Lack/Negative Use of Informational Support: Failure to provide sufficient advice or information to a student so that student may utilize that advice or information to help himself/herself academically (e.g., a teacher rushes through new and difficult mathematical concepts without providing her students with necessary adequate information or advice to solve the problems using different methods) or personally (e.g., a teacher notices that a student has trouble making friends in class, but does nothing to help the student strengthen his friend-making skills).
- **7. Appraisal Support**: Providing evaluative feedback that is directly related to the student's educational performance or personal traits to encourage the continuation of that performance or behavior (e.g., a teacher approaches a student after class to express how happy they are with the student's recent progress).
- 8. Lack/Negative Use of Appraisal Support: Failure to provide sufficient evaluative feedback related to the student's educational performance or personal traits to encourage the continuation of that performance or behavior (e.g., after struggling with new concepts for months, a student finally understands the concepts and earns his first A on a math exam. The classroom teacher approached the student at the end of class and said, "you should have figured it out the first time.").

List 3: Teacher Behavior Type Identified by Suldo (2009) and Moore (2012):

These are more specific types of supportive behaviors. These may or may not be applicable to incidents where the actor is not a teacher or school employee. Please report one code for each incident. Indicate any secondary codes in the notes section.

- Conveys Interest in Student Wellness: Communicates care about students' emotional well-being (e.g., students' moods, relationships, and health). Communicates investment in students' personal interests, such as sports and weekend plans.
- 2. Conveys Disinterest in Student Wellness: Communicates lack of interest in students' names, personal interests, and/or emotional concerns or well-being. Verbal praise appears insincere (e.g., compliments seem perfunctory).
- **3.** Improves Student Moods/Emotion: Creates positive emotional environment via a pleasant or humorous teacher disposition. Attempts to alleviate students' personal or academic concerns (e.g., reduces students' academic stress, helps students problem solve personal situations). Shows

respect for students by maintaining their privacy and being honest with them.

- **4. Causes Negative Student Mood/Emotion**: Creates a negative emotional environment (e.g., uses aversive voice tone, calls students names, behaves hypocritically). Displays insufficient attempts to alleviate students' personal or academic concerns and respect.
- **5. Gives Students What They Want**: Provides fun activities (e.g., free time, sports, field trips). Gives tangible objects/rewards (e.g., candy, food).
- 6. Responsive to Whole Class Understanding of Material: Checks for entire class' understanding and arranges mastery experiences during class (e.g., explains and clarifies concepts, provides enrichment activities, is flexible with class agenda/schedule). Provides additional academic assistance (e.g., more review of difficult concepts during or after class). Elicits student feedback about class and teaching style.
- 7. Interest in Student Progress: In class, checks for individual student's understanding and provides assistance/help. Outside of classroom, checks for individual student's understanding and provides assistance/help.
- 8. Insufficient Interest In Student Progress: Students required to learn concepts independently, such as seatwork without teacher assistance. No concerns conveyed with student level of understanding or expressed difficulty with mastering material. Teacher assigns classwork irrelevant to learning objectives (e.g., assigns busywork, mismatch between classwork and tests).
- **9.** Uses Diverse Teaching Strategies: Uses creative teaching strategies (e.g., collaborative and/or active learning, word searches, crosswords). Uses directive instruction (e.g., provides advance organizers, concrete examples, mnemonic devices). Attends to individual student's preferences for learning. Augments content in textbook with additional information via movies, internet, field trips, and personal anecdotes.
- **10.Reliance on Single Mode of Instruction:** Does not attend to individual student's preferences for learning style. Uses a lecture style of teaching only (e.g., no creative activities or opportunities for active learning).
- **11. Gives Evaluative Feedback**: Provides rewards contingent on performance (e.g., rewards individual student or entire class with party or treat for good performance). Communicates student achievement to students and/or parents (e.g., provides compliments/praise). Provides constructive feedback and encouragement.
- 12. Helps Improve Student Grades: Leniency in grading policies (e.g., provides extra or partial credit, helpful hints; lets students make up or redo work). Increases students' ability to prepare well for exams. Directs students how to self-improve (e.g., explains students' errors, redirects them to task).

- **13.Not Helping Students Improve Grades**: Strict approach to grading (e.g., low grades given on new material, tests count for high percentage of grades, difficult tests).
- **14. Manageable Workload**: Assigns reasonable amount of homework. Provides sufficient time for students to complete assignments and/or prepare for tests.
- **15.Overwhelming Workload**: Assigns too much classwork or homework. Provides insufficient time for projects to get done and/or creates a schedule that yields an uneven workload.
- **16. Treating Students Similarly**: Allows students equal chances to participate in class and assignments. Creates the appearance of not discriminating against specific students due to race, ability level, etc. Equally distributes positive reinforcement, such as teacher attention and treats.
- **17. Punishment in Fair Manner**: Punishes the correct student for each incident. Attempts to solve problems in favor of automatically punishing.
- **18. Treats Students In Biased Manner**: Favors certain students on apparent basis of achievement level, gender, race, or peer group. Student treated worse than peers for an unknown or unique reason (e.g., student is shy, thin, or once was a troublemaker). Allows some students more chances to participate in class and assignments. Gives positive reinforcement (e.g., teacher attention), treats, or privileges to only some students.
- **19. Punishment in Incorrect Manner**: Punishes the incorrect student for an incident. Punishes automatically (e.g., makes inaccurate assumptions). Extreme position on discipline continuum (e.g., doesn't intervene when should or gives punishment too harsh for offense).
- **20. Welcomes Questions**: Provides explicit permission for student to ask questions aloud during class as needed. Provides positive response to student questions (e.g., answers all questions thoroughly, leads students to current answers). Provides methods for students to pose questions privately and/or anonymously. Dedicates time in class or after class to address questions. Allows students' to pose their questions to peers. Provides a physical environment that encourages questions (e.g., posters on class walls remind students to ask questions).
- **21.Discourages Questions**: Ignores students' questions. Provides a negative response to questions (e.g., appears angry after students' questions, punishes bad questions). Limits time to address questions.
- **22.Sets Firm Rules/Discipline Practices**: Students are disciplined for breaking a rule (e.g., teacher reduces student conduct grade, notifies parents). Students perceive overly strict or senseless classroom rules. Repeated reminders of school classroom rules and schedule.

Appendix H – Coding Document

List One: Actor Type:

1.)	Teacher/School Employee	4.)	Other (Specify):
2.)	Peer	5.)	Not Specified
3.)	Family Member		

List Two: Social Support Type – House (1981):

1.)	Emotional Support	6.)	Lack of/Negative Informational	
2.)	Lack of/Negative Emotional Support	7.)	Support Appraisal Support	
3.)	Instrumental Support	8.)	Lack of/Negative Appraisal Support	
4.)	Lack of/Negative Instrumental Support	9.)	Other (Specify Reason):	
5.)	Informational Support	10.)	Uncodable (Specify Reason):	

Section Three: Teacher Behavior Type – Suldo et al. (2009), Moore (2012):

1.)	Conveys Interest in Student Wellness
2.)	Conveys Disinterest in Student Wellness
3.)	Improves Student Moods/Emotion
4.)	Causes Negative Student Mood/Emotion
5.)	Gives Students What They Want
6.)	Responsive to Whole Class Understanding of Material
7.)	Interest in Student Progress
8.)	Insufficient Interest In Student Progress
9.)	Uses Diverse Teaching Strategies
10.)	Reliance on Single Mode of Instruction
11.)	Gives Evaluative Feedback
12.)	Helps Improve Students Grades

13.)	Not Helping Students Improve
	Grades

- 14.) Manageable Workload
- 15.) Overwhelming Workload
- 16.) Treating Students Similarly
- 17.) Punishment in Fair Manner
- 18.) Treats Students in Biased Manner
- 19.) Punishment in Incorrect Manner
- 20.) Welcomes Questions
- 21.) Discourages Questions
- 22.) Sets Firm Rules/Discipline Practices
- 23.) Other (Specify):
- 24.). Uncodable (Specify)